72392-8

72392-8

#### FILED November 25, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72392-8-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### DIVISION ONE

#### IN RE THE DETENTION OF

GREGORY JAEGER,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

### **

#### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue before Gregory Jaeger's jury was whether he was more likely than not to commit a sexually violent act if not indefinitely confined. Before evidence was presented, three jurors opined to the venire that experts believe people like Mr. Jaeger reoffend. Then a jury member fainted during opening statement, indicating an extreme physical reaction to the State's description of the evidence against Mr. Jaeger. The cards were well stacked against him before any witness took the stand, requiring reversal and remand for a fair trial before an actually impartial jury.

The evidentiary trial was not without fault either, as the court's rulings hamstrung Mr. Jaeger on key pieces of evidence. In addition, in rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor inserted his opinion, disparaged Mr. Jaeger's expert, shifted the burden to Mr. Jaeger, relied on facts not in evidence, inflamed the jury's prejudices, and misstated the law.

Constitutional infirmities also necessitate reversal because the commitment derives from conduct that occurred before Mr. Jaeger's volitional capacity had matured and because the statute lessens the constitutionally required burden of proof.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mr. Jaeger was denied his constitutional rights to a fair trial and impartial jury when a deputy sheriff shared his experienced conclusion that sexual offenders reoffend.

2. Mr. Jaeger was denied his constitutional rights to a fair trial and impartial jury when a prospective juror told the venire that when he worked in an institution, he oversaw a pedophile who was discovered the day after release with a young boy in the front seat of his car.

3. Mr. Jaeger was denied his constitutional rights to a fair trial and impartial jury when another prospective juror told the venire a law enforcement friend told him thieves can be rehabilitated but sex offenders are recidivists.

4. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Jaeger's motion for a mistrial in response to juror testimony.

5. Mr. Jaeger was denied his constitutional rights to a fair trial and impartial jury when a juror fainted during the State's opening statement.

6. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Jaeger's motion for a mistrial following the juror's fainting episode.

7. The trial court improperly limited Mr. Jaeger's expert's testimony by excluding relevant evidence.

8. The trial court abused its discretion in excluding any reference to the community protection program because some evidence was relevant and would exist upon release.

9. The prosecutor committed misconduct by disparaging and providing his personal opinion on Mr. Jaeger's expert witness during rebuttal closing argument.

10. The prosecutor committed misconduct by shifting the burden of proof to Mr. Jaeger during rebuttal closing argument.

The trial court abused its discretion when it overruled Mr.
Jaeger's objections to the burden-shifting argument.

12. The prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the law, relying on facts not in evidence, and inflaming the jury's prejudices in rebuttal closing argument.

 Indefinite commitment based on conduct committed while Mr.
Jaeger's volitional capacity continued to develop as a developmentally delayed juvenile violates substantive due process.

14. RCW 71.09.020 violates due process because it allows for commitment where a respondent will "likely" or "more probably than not" reoffend.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 A respondent in a civil commitment trial is constitutionally entitled to a fair and impartial jury, due process, and a fair trial. A jury exposed to outside bias and influence may not be able to act impartially.
Was Mr. Jaeger denied a fair trial by an impartial jury when three prospective jurors broadcast to the venire their experience-laden opinions that sexually violent offenders reoffend?

2. Was Mr. Jaeger denied a fair trial by an impartial jury when, in addition to the above, a juror fainted during open statements in response to the State's description of the evidence?

3. Evidence is relevant if it has any tendency to make the existence of any fact of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable. It is not harmless to exclude relevant evidence if there is a reasonable probability the improperly excluded evidence could have materially affected the outcome of the case. The court prevented Mr. Jaeger's expert from discussing her opinion of Mr. Jaeger's conduct at the SCC, a central part of the State's theory that Mr. Jaeger could not be safe in the community, and excluded evidence of Mr. Jaeger's release plan. Is Mr. Jaeger entitled to a new trial?

4. It is misconduct to make improper argument that offers a personal opinion, impugns credibility, shifts the burden of proof to the

respondent, misstates the law, inflames the jury's prejudices, or relies on facts not in evidence. Is it substantially likely the prosecutor's objected-to argument, which disparaged Mr. Jaeger's expert and shifted the burden of proof, and the unobjected to argument that misstated the law, inflamed the jury's prejudices and relied on facts not in evidence affected the jury's verdict in this closely contested case?

5. Principles of substantive due process require no individual be indefinitely committed absent proof of lack of volitional control. The frontal lobe of a juvenile's brain, which controls volitional capacity, continues to develop into the late teens and early twenties. Moreover, Mr. Jaeger's congenital disorders further inhibited development of the frontal lobe of the brain. Was Mr. Jaeger's right to substantive due process violated when his indefinite commitment was premised on conduct occurring prior to maturity of his volitional functioning?

6. Due process requires the State prove a person is mentally ill and dangerous by at least clear and convincing evidence. Does RCW71.09.020 violate due process by allowing for the involuntary commitment of a person who is merely "likely" to reoffend?

7. Did the cumulative effect of trial errors deny Mr. Jaeger a constitutionally fair trial?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Gregory Jaeger's first year was tumultuous. His birth mother had Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), low intellect, learning disabilities, possible borderline personality disorder, and abused alcohol and drugs. 7/16/14 RP 54-57; 7/14/14 RP 37.<sup>1</sup> She likely consumed alcohol while pregnant. 7/14/14 RP 37-38. She planned to give him up for adoption to Ronald and Catherine Jaeger, but changed her mind twice: first calling off the adoption from the maternity ward; days later she called the Jaegers to come pick up Gregory but took him back two weeks later. 7/16/14 RP 57-59. Thus, Mr. Jaeger spent most of his first 11 months with her under largely unknown conditions. 7/14/14 RP 37.

When Gregory was almost one year old, his birth mother told the Jaegers she wanted to return him to them. 7/16/14 RP 59-61. They adopted him. 7/16/14 RP 54, 59-61. He lived with them and their two other children, Derek and Micaela, from that time forward. 7/16/14 RP 53. Gregory arrived at their home overweight and with a bleeding rash. 7/16/14 RP 61-63. The rash likely derived from having had to sit in his feces for a long period of time. 7/16/14 RP 62-63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The verbatim report from the Pretrial Motions is referred to by volume number, e.g., "Motions Vol I RP." The remaining volumes are referred to by date, except if multiple volumes exist for a particular date they are referred to as DATE [a.m. or p.m.] RP.

The Jaegers provided Gregory a loving home, in which his differences were soon noticed. He is cognitively delayed. 7/16/14 RP 85 (mother testifies he lags about two to four years behind peers), 103; 7/17/14 a.m. RP 4; 7/10/14 RP 138-39. He had trouble crawling, holding a bottle, and developing motor skills generally. 7/16/14 RP 63-68; 7/17/14 a.m. RP 7. At age 12 or 13 he would still ask to use a "sippy cup." 7/16/14 RP 66-67. He was also resistant to being held or engaging with people. 7/16/14 RP 68-69. He is particularly sensitive to noise and light. 7/16/14 RP 69-70, 73, 86-87; 7/17/14 a.m. RP 12-13; 7/24/14 RP 122. From a young age he got frustrated and threw tantrums or acted out physically. 7/16/14 RP 69, 73, 81-82. His behavioral issues persisted in school. 7/16/14 RP 75. He was generally incapable of making friends. 7/16/14 RP 73-75, 81, 94; 7/17/14 a.m. RP 30-31. Meanwhile, he enjoyed art, which seemed to exert a calming influence. 7/16/14 RP 82-85; 7/17/14 a.m. RP 4-7. He clung to structure and rules. 7/16/14 RP 87-89; 7/24/14 RP 118-21. In high school, he realized he was homosexual. 7/17/14 a.m. RP 8-10; 7/17/14 p.m. RP 7-8; 7/9/14 RP 18.

Mr. Jaeger developed a couple uncommon habits that do not involve other people. He is interested in diapers, particularly soiled diapers. 7/16/14 RP 75-79; 7/17/14 p.m. RP 11-13, 106-11. He also inserts objects into his urethra. *See* 7/17/14 p.m. RP 38-39.

From a young age, Mr. Jaeger was enrolled in physical and speech therapy; he saw doctors and counselors. 7/16/14 RP 68, 78-79, 93, 94, 96-98, 128, 130. Over the years, he has been diagnosed with varying conditions and prescribed many different medications. Exhibit 214, pp.5-6 (listing evolving diagnoses); 7/16/14 RP 79-81 (prescribed Risperdal), 96-98 (medications changed), 129 (participated in medication trial), 132-34; 7/17/14 a.m. RP 3; 7/17/14 p.m. RP 161 (Jaeger describes medications as "dysregulated"); 7/21/14 RP 142-49 (prescriptions changed among aderall, ritalin, seroquel, concerta; medication changes at time of 16<sup>th</sup> birthday); 7/22/14 RP 37-39, 112-13; 7/24/14 RP 135.

It was not until he was 15 years old that Mr. Jaeger was able to form a few friendships, particularly with four kids from his special education class. 7/16/14 RP 98. Encouraged by his progress and interested in celebrating his new friendships, the Jaegers decided to throw Gregory his first birthday party for his 16<sup>th</sup> birthday at the Family Fun Center. 7/16/14 RP 98; 7/17/14 a.m. RP 13-15. Towards the end of the party, Mr. Jaeger excused himself to use the restroom, began looking for a diaper and ended up attempting to engage a nine-year-old male in oral sex, but the boy exited the restroom. 7/17/14 a.m. RP 15-24. Mr. Jaeger then approached a younger boy who entered the neighboring stall. 7/17/14 a.m. RP 25-26. He put his mouth on that boy's penis and then the boy exited

the stall. 7/17/14 a.m. RP 26-27. Mr. Jaeger said he did not have a particular plan when he went into the restroom. 7/17/14 a.m. RP 22.

After pleading guilty to attempted child molestation and child molestation, Mr. Jaeger was confined at Maple Lane for five years; during this time he engaged in various services, was motivated to do better, improved over time, worked hard and completed high school. 7/7/14 RP 104-06; 7/8/14 RP 14-21, 68, 72-73; 7/9/14 RP 3; 7/9/14 RP 115. Due to his mental deficits, physical appearance, and awkwardness in social interactions, he was easily picked on or bullied. 7/10/14 RP 140. He also engaged in some consensual sexual relationships with peers. 7/8/14 RP 27-28; 7/9/14 RP 10-13; *see* 7/9/14 RP 119-27 (engaged in ageappropriate relationships at SCC); 7/10/14 RP 41-42. Prior to his release from in 2010, the State filed a petition for indefinite commitment pursuant to Chapter 71.09 RCW and he has since been held at the SCC. CP 1-2.

Mr. Jaeger's parents have been very involved in and supportive of his recovery and hopeful release. *E.g.*, Motions Vol I RP 22-23, 27-28; 7/8/14 RP 38 (Maple Lane counselor "describe[s] them as being the best parents I have ever had to work with in my career."), 84-85. He is in daily contact with them. 7/16/14 RP 105-07; 7/17/14 a.m. RP 42-43. The State and Mr. Jaeger agreed to a plan for release to a lessrestrictive placement, but the potential settlement ultimately fell apart. CP 193-203; CP 227-28.

The commitment proceedings that followed were closely contested. At trial, the State and Mr. Jaeger's experts presented different diagnoses. On Mr. Jaeger's behalf, Dr. Natalie Novick Brown diagnosed Mr. Jaeger with alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder (part of the fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD)). 7/23/14 RP 28-61, 71-72, 134-49; Exhibit 214. This congenital condition causes frontal lobe brain damage and, along with any autism spectrum disorder, accounts for Mr. Jaeger's executive functioning limitations. 7/23/14 RP 58-61, 71-72. According to Dr. Brown, "People with FASD are at risk of making sexual mistakes. Sexually offending is included among those sexual mistakes... . but the research does not indicate that those individuals are prone to repeating those sexual mistakes and reoffending essentially after they have made sexual mistakes and been sanctioned for it." 7/23/14 RP 63. Dr. Denise Kellaher diagnosed Mr. Jaeger with autism spectrum disorder (asperger's syndrome), fetishistic disorder (diapers), and a moderate level intellectual disability. 7/21/14 RP 50-51, 97-98. She found that none of these diagnoses make Mr. Jaeger more likely than not to reoffend if released. 7/21/14 RP 99, 101-116, 184-86.

The State's witness, Dr. Harry Hoberman, diagnosed Mr. Jaeger with ADHD, intellectual disability, borderline personality disorder, antisocial personality disorder, fetishistic disorder (diapers), sexual masochism disorder, other specified paraphilic disorder (coprophilic and urophilic), and pedophilia. 7/14/14 RP 18, 7/14/14 RP 59-101, 109-27; 7/15/14 RP 14-18. Dr. Hoberman testified these conditions make it more difficult for Mr. Jaeger to control his behavior, and he is more likely than not to reoffend if released from SCC. 7/14/14 RP 35-36, 118; 7/15/14 RP 27-45. Mr. Jaeger and his witnesses sharply disagreed with Dr. Hoberman's diagnoses. *E.g.*, 7/17/14 p.m. RP 28; 7/21/14 RP 32-34, 125-33, 146, 151-62, 165-80; 7/22/14 RP 65-70, 94-97; 7/23/14 RP 76-77.

Mr. Jaeger testified he now responds better to changes in his emotions and can better communicate with others; he has learned from his treatment and matured during his almost ten years in confinement. 7/17/14 a.m. RP 31-37, 46-48, 50-52; 7/17/14 p.m. RP 36. He has learned how to have friendships and wants consensual relationships. 7/17/14 p.m. RP 27-28, 31-32. It "tears [him] apart" that he committed the offenses in 2005. 7/17/14 a.m. RP 35; *see* 7/17/14 p.m. RP 62 ("I don't want to hurt another child ever again."). He still has an interest in diapers. *See* 7/14/14 RP 13-17; 7/17/14 p.m. RP 106-11.

Mr. Jaeger also presented evidence of a comprehensive release plan to show he could live in the community without reoffending. Exhibit 332; see, e.g., 7/24/14 RP 47-49. Dr. Brown described the plan as "very conservative" and "probably the most comprehensive, focused, targeted treatment plan I have ever seen in my 20 years' experience in this field. It surpasses anything I have seen in DDA or anyplace else for that matter." 7/23/14 RP 80-81. Upon release from the SCC, Mr. Jaeger intended to return to his parents' home where his two nephews, Micah Manasseh, age 22, and Robert High, age 20, would also be living. 7/16/14 RP 52-53; 7/22/14 RP 123-25. The family worked with professionals to develop the plan that includes 24-hour supervision; alarming the house; steps to deescalate situations; crisis management; individualized treatment; therapy and skills training in many areas; a weekly schedule and task list; and copious rules. E.g., 7/16/14 RP 114-21; 7/17/14 p.m. RP 48-55, 145-49; 7/21/14 RP 47-48; 7/22/14 RP 137-41; 7/23/14 RP 82-89, 105-13; 7/24/14 RP 50-63, 154-61; 7/28/14 RP 29-33. Since Mr. Jaeger's offenses, Ron and Cathy Jaeger have spent countless hours developing skills and tools to work better with their son. 7/16/14 RP 54, 108-14, 140; 7/24/14 RP 142-54; Exhibits 250, 337, 347, 348. Mr. Jaeger testified "it's a more safer and smoother environment" for him now because "my parents and my support team know my specific issues and my struggles" and how to handle him

better. 7/17/14 a.m. RP 50; 7/17/14 p.m. RP 158-61; *accord* 7/22/14 RP 99-101 (testimony of Dr. Kellaher supporting release plan).

Mr. Jaeger was prevented from telling the jury that upon release he would live under these conditions while applying for fulltime housing from a residential housing provider for developmentally disabled persons through this state's community protection program. Mr. Jaeger showed he was eligible for the program and committed to applying and attending if admitted. Motions Vol I RP 18, 35-38, 46; Motions Vol II RP 207-09, 214. He also demonstrated the community protection program would conduct a risk assessment that took into account how he was doing in the community prior to admitting him. Motions Vol I RP 105. The State moved to exclude all evidence of the community protection program. CP 788-813; CP (Subs. 57, 131, 132, 141,  $152^2$ ). The court granted the State's motion, ruling "that any evidence regarding community placements that are uncertain would not be admissible, however we characterize them." Motions Vol IV RP 392-402. Mr. Jaeger, therefore, could not offer evidence that he would apply to the community protection program upon release and that he would be motivated to comply with his release plan in order to gain admittance to the program.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  A supplemental designation of clerk's papers has been filed for those documents referenced by subfolder number.

Other errors arose during the commitment trial, the facts of which are addressed in the relevant argument sections below. The jury indefinitely committed Mr. Jaeger to the SCC. CP 956-57, 962-64.

#### E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- 1. Mr. Jaeger was denied a fair trial by an impartial jury because several expert-like testimonials during voir dire tainted the panel on the ultimate issue and a juror fainted during the State's opening statement.
  - a. <u>A respondent is denied his constitutional right to an impartial</u> jury when a panel is tainted by a juror's expert-like experience.

Alleged constitutional violations are reviewed de novo. *State v. Siers*, 174 Wn.2d 269, 274, 274 P.3d 358 (2012). Our constitutions guarantee the right to a fair and impartial jury in civil commitment proceedings. Const. art. I, § 22; U.S. Const. amend. VI; *State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 517, 14 P.3d 713 (2000); *In re Det. of Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 857 P.2d 989 (1993), *superseded by statute on other grounds as recognized in In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 746, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). "The 'impartial jury' aspect of article I, section 22, focuses on the defendant's right to have unbiased jurors, whose prior knowledge of the case or their prejudice does not taint the entire venire and render the defendant's trial unfair." *State v. Momah*, 167 Wn.2d 140, 152, 217 P.3d 321 (2009). "Indeed, an essential element of a fair trial is an impartial trier of fact—a jury capable of deciding the case based on the evidence before it." *Id.* "Due process requires that the defendant be tried by a jury capable and willing to decide the case solely on the evidence before it." *Smith v. Phillips*, 455 U.S. 209, 217, 102 S. Ct. 940, 945-46, 71 L. Ed. 2d 78 (1982); *accord* U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. The right to a fair trial includes the right to a presumption of innocence. *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 844, 975 P.2d 967 (1999).

"Voir dire is a significant aspect of trial because it allows parties to secure their article I, section 22 right to a fair and impartial jury through juror questioning." Momah, 167 Wn.2d at 152. In Mach v. Stewart, the Ninth Circuit reversed a trial court's denial of a motion for a new venire. 137 F.3d 630 (9th Cir. 1997). The defendant was charged with sexual conduct with a minor and during voir dire, a prospective juror with a psychology background and employed as a social worker stated that, in her three years as a state-employed social worker, every allegation a child made about sexual abuse was true, which she repeated upon further questioning. Id. at 632-33. The trial court struck the juror but denied a motion for a new panel. Id. Reversing, the Ninth Circuit reasoned the statements made by the prospective juror were directly connected to guilt, and that "the court should have[, at a minimum,] conducted further voir dire to determine whether the panel had in fact been infected by [the prospective juror's] expert-like statements." Id. at 633.

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