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

Jaeger next highlights additional remarks by two other 

prospective jurors (Juror 117 and Juror 2) that he claims deprived 

him of a fair trial. Appellant's Opening Brief at 19-20. But as 

1° For example, Jurors 33, 36, 46, 55, 58, 79, 88, 108 and 110 endorsed a belief 
that repeat offenders in particular are likely to reoffend. RP (7/2/14) 60-65. Juror 
122 indicated that he or she would apply "a different burden of proof" in a case 
involving sex offenses committed against a child. RP (7/2/14) 70-71. Juror 106 
said that he or she would not "respect" a sex offender's testimony. RP (7/2/14 
a.m.) 31-33. Throughout voir dire, which lasted several days, the record is 
replete with prospective jurors expressing negative opinions regarding sex 
offenders, which is neither unusual nor surprising in these cases. In fact, 
Jaeger's defense attorneys filed substantial briefing in support of expanded voir 
dire questioning in anticipation of prospective jurors' negative opinions about sex 
offenders. CP 260-92. 
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Jaeger acknowledges, defense counsel did not move for a mistrial 

after these additional remarks were made. Appellant's Opening 

Brief at 20 n.3. Jaeger suggests that making another motion for a 

mistrial was not required to preserve this issue because the trial 

court indicated-much later in the proceedings, during the trial-

that Jaeger had a "standing objection" whenever the trial court ruled 

against him. Appellant's Opening Brief at 20 n.3 (citing RP 

(7/10/14) 14). 

But the trial court did not grant a "standing objection" during 

voir dire. Rather, the trial court granted Jaeger's defense counsel a 

"standing objection" after the court made an evidentiary ruling 

outside the presence of the jury during the trial. This is the proper 

context in which to grant a "standing objection" rather than requiring 

counsel to object again in the presence of the jury. 11 Jaeger's initial 

motion for a mistrial regarding Juror 61 's remarks did not create a 

continuing motion for a mistrial as to all other statements made by 

all other prospective jurors. Also, both Juror 117 and Juror 2 made 

the statements that Jaeger now claims were incurably prejudicial in 

11 As the Washington Supreme Court has held, the losing party to an evidentiary 
ruling "is deemed to have a standing objection where a judge has made a final 
ruling on the motion" unless tl1e trial court requires otherwise. State v. Powell, 
126 Wn.2d 244, 256, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). Thus, when a proper record for a 
standing objection is made, the issue is preserved for appeal; otherwise, the 
issue is not preserved. 
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direct response to quest!oning by Jaeger's trial counsel. RP 

(7/2/14) 47-48, 66-67. Trial counsel did not move for a mistrial as a 

result of these remarks. Rather, counsel asked the trial court to 

excuse Juror 2 for cause (which was denied), and did not ask to 

excuse Juror 117 at all. RP (7/2/14) 78-79. Any issue regarding 

these two prospective ju'.'ors has not been preserved for appeal, 

and these arguments should not be addressed further. 1
.
2 

b. The Trial Court Properly Denied Jaeger's · 
Motion For A Mistrial During Opening 
Sta~ements. 

Jaeger also argues that the trial court erred by denying his 

second motion for mistrial after Juror 5 fainted during opening 

statements, when the trial prosecutor was describing Jaeger's 

masochistic sexual prac~ices involving harming his penis. 

Appellant's Opening Brief at 20-22. Although a juror fainting is not 

a common event, this is not an ordinary case. In this case, the 

record reflects that the juror fainting did not affect Jaeger's ability to 

receive a fair trial in light of the evidence that was presented. 

12 Jaeger also suggests that the remarks by Juror 117 and Juror 2 constitute 
manifest error affecting a cor.stitutional right under RAP 2.5(a)(3). Appellant's 
Opening Brief at 20 n.3. For the same reasons that Juror 61 's remarks are 
insignificant in light of the entire record, the remarks made by Juror 117 and 
Juror 2 are insignificant as well, and thus, not "manifest" within the meaning of 
the rule. See State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 934-35, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) 
(explaining the standards for "manifest constitutional error"). 
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The subject matter the prosecutor was discussing when 

Juror 5 fainted was indeed not for the faint of heart. 13 RP (7/7/14) 

32. But as the prosecutor explained, he was not describing 

Jaeger's sexual practices merely for shock v~lue, but because they 

were relevant to Dr. Hoberman's opinion. RP (7/7/14) 32. Further, 

as graphic as the prosecutor's description of the evidence may 

have seemed at the time, the evidence itself was worse. As the 

record reflects, the jury heard from numerous witnesses over the 

course of a lengthy trial about the various aspects of Jaeger's 

profound sexual deviancies. The fact that one of the jurors 

experienced an involuntary physiological reaction 14 upon hearing 

what the evidence would show is not what caused the jury to reach 

its verdict. Rather, the evidence itself is what led the jury to reach 

its verdict. Moreover, despite the distressing nature of the 

evidence, the jury deliberated for several days before reaching a 

verdict. RP (7/29/14), RP (7/30/14), RP (7/31/14). Thus, the 

13 Juror 14 also reported to the bailiff that she felt anxious and nauseated when 
she was listening to the open!ng statements. RP (7/7/14) 88. Frankly, it is 
difficult to imagine a juror who would not have been disturbed upon hearing for 
the first time exactly what the evidence would show. 
14 The fainting episode experienced by Juror 5 is known as "vasovagal syncope," 
which occurs when the body ';overreacts to certain triggers, such as the sight of 
blood or extreme emotional distress." See http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases
conditions/vasovagal-syncope/basics/definition/con-20026900, .last accessed 
1/27/16. 
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record shows that the jurors deliberated carefully and thoughtfully, 

not thatthey reached a snap decision on an improper basis. 

To sum up, Jaeger cannot show that the trial court abused 

its discretion in denying his motions for a mistrial because the 

record does not show that what occurred during voir dire and 

opening statements caused the jury to disregard their instructions 

and reach a verdict based on anything other than the evidence that 

was properly admitted during the trial. Indeed, in light of the 

evidence produced at trial, it is likely that voir dire and opening 

statements were forgotten by the time deliberations began. 

Jaeger's claim is withou·~ merit, and this Court should affirm. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT EXERCISED SOUND 
DISCRETION IN ITS EVIDENTIARY RULINGS 
AND JAEGER CANNOT DEMONSTRATE 
OTHERWISE. 

Jaeger next claims that he is entitled to a new trial due to 

two evidentiary errors. r·Jlore specifically, he claims that the trial 

court erred by excluding testimony by one of his experts that he 

was prone to being groomed and victimized by other residents at 

the Special Commitment Center, and by excluding evidence 

regarding the Community Protection Program _on grounds that it 

was not a condition that "would exist" under RCW 71.09.060(1) and 
I 
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RCW 71.09.015. Jaeger.also contends that RCW 71.09.060(1) is 

unconstitutional because it excludes evidence regarding the CPP in 

SVP cases. Appellant's Opening Brief at 23-31. These arguments 

are without merit. First, disallowing irrelevant expert testimony that 

was not supported by th,a evidence was a ruling well within the trial 

court's discretion. Second, this Court has already held that 

evidence regarding the CPP is inadmissible under the 

circumstances presented in this case, and the trial court's ruling 

consistent with that precedent was a sound exercise of discretion 

as well. 

Evidentiary rulings are matters addressed to the sound 

discretion of the trial court. State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 

913-14, 16 P.3d 626 (2001). A trial court abuses its discretion only 

when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or is based on 

untenable grounds. State v. Enstone, 137 Wn.2d 675, 679-80, 97 4 

P.2d 828 (1999). A reviewing court will find an abuse of discretion 

only if it finds that no reasonable person would have made the 

evidentiary ruling that the trial judge made. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d at 

914. Each of Jaeger's claims of evidentiary error, which are 

discussed in turn below, should be examined in light of these 

standards. 
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a. The Trial Court Properly Excluded Expert 
Testimony Regarding "Grooming" And 
"Victimization." · 

Jaeger tried to present testimony from Dr. Natalie Novick 

Brown, his expert on fetal alcohol spectrum disorder, that Jaeger 

was prone to being "groomed" and "victimized" by other "inmates"15 

at the SCC because of FASO. RP (7/23/14) 14-17. The trial court 

excluded this testimony on grounds that there had been no 

evidence that Jaeger wei.s being groomed or victimized, and 

because this evidence was "shorthand" for "'[the SCC] is a bad 

place' as compared to living at home, which is not before the jury." 

RP (7 /23/14) 16. This ruling is correct. 

First, as the trial court observed, the evidence did not 

support an expert opinion that Jaeger's sexual contact with other 

residents at the SCC was the result of grooming or victimization. 

To the contrary, the evidence presented-including Jaeger's own 

statements-showed that Jaeger's sexual contact with other sec 

residents was consensual and often initiated by Jaeger. See RP 

(7 /9/14) 120-22 (Jaeger told SCC staff member Hayley Shepard 

that having sexual contact with resident Christopher Mulkins was 

15 The proposed PowerPoint slide on this topic used the word "inmates," which is 
incorrect because the SCC is not a prison. The verbiage stricken from the slide 
by the trial court was properly excluded for this reason as well. 
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Jaeger's idea); RP (7/9/14) 160-61 (Jaeger wrote a letter to 

resident Brian Taylor Rcse in which Jaeger addressed Rose as "my 

love" and asked Rose to write back and to smear semen on his 

reply letter with his "sex penis"). This is a valid basis for the trial 

court's ruling, and Jaeger's claim fails. 

Further, Jaeger's claim is also without merit because the 

excluded testimony was irrelevant to the issues before the jury. As 

the trial court observed, the jury in an initial SVP commitmenttrial 

does not consider whether confinement at the sec is in the 

person's best interests as compared with a proposed placement in 

the community. 16 Rather, the jury decides only whether the person 

meets the definition of a sexually violent predator. RCW 

71.09.060(1 ).'.Although the jury may consider "placement 

conditions and voluntary treatment options that would exist for the 

person if unconditionally released from detention," such evidence is 

relevant only because the jury must consider the level of risk the 

person poses to the community if he is not confined, not because 

the jury should consider any risk posed to the person if he is 

confined. RCW 71.09.060(1). Excluding Dr. Brown's testimony 

regarding Jaeger's purported susceptibility to "grooming" or 

16 This is a proper considerat:on at a trial on the issue of whether a person should 
be conditionally released to a less restrictive alternative. RCW 71.09.090(3)(d). 
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"victimization" at the SCC was a proper exercise of the trial court's 

discretion for this reason as well. 

Lastly, although Dr. Brown's testimony regarding grooming 

and victimization was excluded, Dr. Brown was allowed to testify 

that Jaeger and others with FASO "are very susceptible to peer 

pressure and easily led." RP (7/23/14) 14. Therefore, the jury 

heard essentially the same opinion from Dr. Brown withol!t 

reference to conditions at the sec. Jaeger cannot demonstrate an 

abuse of discretion, and his argument is without merit. 

b. The Trial Court Properly Excluded Evidence 
Re9arding The Community Protection 
Program. 

Jaeger's arguments regarding the Community Protection 

Program are also unavailing. As a preliminary matter, Jaeger 

attempts to recast his argument on appeal regarding the CPP as 

something different from what he presented to the trial court. More 

specifically, Jaeger now contends that the only evidence he offered 

at trial was that he would apply for the CPP if he were released 

from the sec, not that he would be accepted into the program. 

See Appellant's Opening Brief at 26. Jaeger likely reframes the 

issue this way on appeal in order to avoid the express requirement .· 
in RCW 71.09.060(1) ana RCW 71.09.015 that only treatment 
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options and conditions that "would exist" if the person were 

released may be presented at trial. 

But Jaeger's trial counsel argued that the CPP itself "would 

exist" for Jaeger, not just that Jaeger would apply for the CPP. 

See, e.g., CP 792 (stating that Jaeger "has a complete plan for the 

short-term which includes getting into the CPP - the CPP itself is 

Mr. Jaeger's long-term plan"); CP 1109 (stating that "[i]f Greg 

Jaeger can show via the CPP that he is not a danger to the 

community, then he does not meet commitment criteria and must 

be unconditionally released). This is why the trial court ruled that 

Jaeger had no standing to challenge the constitutionality of the 

statute excluding CPP evidence in SVP cases, i.e., because 

Jaeger's acceptance into the CPP was not an option that "would 

exist," not because Jaeger could not apply for the CPP in the first 

instance. RP (4/4/14) 393-96. In colloquial terms, Jaeger attempts 

to "change doctrinal partners in the middle of the cotillion." 

Stoddard v. State, 157 Md. App. 247, 282, 850 A.2d 406, reversed 

on other grounds, 389 Md. 681, 887 A.2d 564 (2004). This Court 
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should decline Jaeger's invitation to consider a different issue on 

appeal than was considered by the trial court. 17 

The issue thatwas considered by the trial court was whether 

. Jaeger has standing to challenge the constitutionality of the portion 

of RCW 71.09.060(1) th:it excludes evidence of the CPP in SVP 

initial commitment trials. As the trial court ruled, this question 

depends on whether Jaeger had demonstrated that the CPP was 

an option that "would exist" for him in the community under that 

statute and under RCW 71.09.015. As the trial court correctly 

concluded, this Court has already answered that question in the 

negative. 
-

In In re Detention of Mulkins, 157 Wn. App. 400, 237 P.3d 

342 (2010), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1032 (2011), this Court 

addressed whether an SVP respondent had shown that the CPP 

was an option that "wou'.d exist" upon his release, and therefore, 

whether he had standing to challenge the constitutionality of the 

portion of that statute that excludes evidence of the CPP in all initial 

commitment trials. In re Mulkins, 157 Wn. App. at 401. _This Court 

analyzed the issue as fo!lows: 

17 Moreover, any intent on Jaeger's part to apply for the CPP is not relevant, 
because merely submitting an application has no impact on the risk Jaeger 
poses to the community. 
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As set forth above, RCW 71.09.060(1) permits 
the fact finder to consider "only placement conditions 
and voluntary treatment options that would exist for 
the person if unconditionally released from detention 
on the sexually violent predator petition." Our courts 
have construed the language "would exist" to mean 
conditions "that would actually exist" if the respondent 
was released from custody, not hypoth.etical 
evidence. Thus, the statutory provision that excludes 
evidence of the CPP only applies to adversely affect 
Mulkins if the CPP is an option that would exist for 
him upon his release. 

Mulkins asserts that the CPP is an existing 
option for him, re.lying on the letter from DSHS and 
noting that offenders who have been identified by 
DSHS as meeting the criteria for the program are 
notified by the form letter that was sent to him. But. at 
most, this letter only indicated that he was identified 
as a potential candidate for the program and directed 
him to follow up with his case manager if he was 
interested in the program. Mulkins points to nothing 
else in the record establishing that he has in fact been 
through the application process, has been accepted 
as a suitable candidate for the program, and has 
agreed to participate in the program. Without further 
information about his actual placement in the 
program, Mulkins fails to establish that the CPP is an 
option that in fact "would exist" for him upon his 
release. Thus, even if evidence of the CPP were 
admissible under the statute, he fails to show that it 
would be admissible in his case. He therefore cannot 
demonstrate that, by excluding evidence of the CPP, 
RCW 71.09.060(1) applies to adversely affect his 
case. Accordingly, he lacks standing to challenge its 
constitutional validity. 

In re Mulkins, 157 Wn. App. at 406-07 (footnotes omitted). 
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In accordance with Mulkins, the threshold question here is 

whether the trial court erred in ruling that the CPP was not an 

option that "would exist" for Jaeger if he were released. Although

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